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CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. - PANEL 1 (RESUMED)


Stanton Sheogobind; Previously Sworn.


Douglas R. Bradbury; Previously Sworn.


Glenn King; Previously Sworn.


R. Scott Hawkes; Previously Sworn

MR. VLAHOS:  Good morning, everyone.

Mr. Taylor, any preliminary matters?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, none that come to mind, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd?  Mr. Shepherd?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?

MR. VLAHOS:  You want to say something?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only thing I would say is that the Board asked on the last -- at the end of the day on Tuesday that we speak to No. 34 --

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- today.  Mr. Taylor and I have discussed it, and he has confirmed with me that they have agreed to provide that.  Does the Board need more than that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Taylor, whoever chooses to respond.  And that's fine, you know.  Obviously, the applicant has reaffirmed what they had agreed to, the motion to review last Friday.

I just want to, as we go through this, want to understand what the document is so that we understand how it will be used at a later date by yourself, Mr. Shepherd.  If the -- and I want to be clear on -- and this goes back to, I think, the intent of the motion, how we are interpreting and applying the decision of the review panel.

Is that -- and specifically, in that decision we are not requiring the applicant to manufacture documents.  Now -- and I recognize there is not a lot of precision around, what does "manufacture" mean.  There wasn't a lot of -- you know, anything articulated as to exactly what that meant.  But I will put out what we don't want to have happen and see if that assists in the creation of this document, that once the document has been created and it's a recalculation, is the applicant comfortable that the assumptions that are being -- already assumptions being required, or are they articulated clearly enough that there won't be any argument as to how the document was created after the fact?  Are you comfortable that IR 34 provides enough direction as to exactly what you want in this run or recalculation, so that once it is produced we are not back at the argument stage of, 'All right.  Well, that's not really the picture I had envisioned being produced'?  Am I being clear, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are.  I should make two comments.  First of all, the Board Panel last Friday actually specifically approved the answer to No. 34.  There is an exchange in which the counsel went through the various items, described 34, and indicated that it had been agreed to be provided.  So I actually didn't think there was an issue about it.

However --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let me just -- on that -- and we can do this one at a time.  And I think the only reason this Panel became concerned was the length of time that was suggested was going to be required.  We are not questioning what was agreed to last Friday.  And you are quite correct in that.

It was when it was suggested that it may take three or four weeks to produce a document that already exists that this Panel became concerned that, well, it doesn't seem to jive with what the review panel decided, as far as manufacturing new documents versus producing existing documents, the agreement aside.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so let me deal with that second part, Mr. Quesnelle.  What we're after is a rate-based continuity calculation, which is a conventional utility document.  You do them all the time, right?  And so they know what their starting point is.  They know what the depreciation rates are for these items.  And the only thing that will take some time to gather will be, what are the appropriate adjustments each year for things like storm damage and stuff like that, because there are some assets that are no longer used and useful that would have to be taken out.

But there is no additions during the period, so because there's no additions, it's actually quite a simple item.  I think the delay comes -- and Mr. Taylor will correct me if I am wrong.  The delay comes because some of the information may need to come from Port Colborne.

And so if it was just Mr. Bradbury doing a rate-based continuity calculation, I am sure he could do it at lunchtime.  But if he has to gather information and he doesn't have it in his possession, I think that takes longer.

But I think that that critical path, information from Port Colborne, if I understood Mr. Hawkes correctly -- I think it was Mr. Hawkes on Monday -- he was saying there were some other things that they need to get from Port Colborne as well that would take some time.  Was it you, Mr. Hawkes?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes, there is additional information we need from Port Colborne.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For some of the other interrogatory responses.

MR. KING:  No, for -- in that one in particular as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but in other ones as well.  There are some documents they have to provide.

MR. KING:  Right.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am saying is, I don't think this one is causing any additional delay, but my friends can advise otherwise.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And that is fine.  Our concern I think I articulated was that if we were -- at the end of the day, was there a -- due to a lack of clarity at this point right now, was there a potential for argument as to whether or not the document produced addresses your concerns.  And if that is not the case, then we're fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me say one other thing.  Of course the reason we want this is because -- this is about the remedy.  When we make the argument as to how you recover for those assets, whether by lease or by the alternative, we need to tell the Board, 'This is how much we think it is.'

We would normally do that calculation in our argument.  We'd do a chart.  But we would be guessing.  The company can actually give you the data.  And we may disagree with their data.  But that would be something we would have to deal with in argument.

MR. VLAHOS:  Well, Mr. Shepherd -- and that sort of zeroes in on my concern as to what may be at play once that information is produced.  I would think there would be a number of assumptions involved in producing this alternative calculation.

In Interrogatory 34, for example -- I am just going to pick a couple here -- you say adjusting for the depreciation, the first one, okay?  So are the depreciation rates something that they would provide, subject to you testing it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, that's a good example, because if they use a different depreciation rate for a certain class of assets in Port Colborne than they do in the rest of their operation, it's legitimate for me to say, Why is there a difference?  On the other hand, I don't expect them to do a depreciation study on their Port Colborne assets.  That's ridiculous.

So, I mean, there are conventional depreciation rates.  They are using them.  They have a chart.  So if they are using something different, it would be legitimate to ask why.  But if they are using the normal rates, why would I be able to complain?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, I just wonder whether there is any way to shortcut all this and not fight over the assumptions.  Is it possible for you to provide whatever assumptions are necessary?  I don't know what, you know, what the -- what has covered the assumptions right here, but is there something that you can provide them or you can communicate with them so that what would be at play is the number that comes out, and not the assumptions themselves?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I would go a step further, Mr. Chairman.  I think -- and Mr. Taylor will disagree with me if he thinks this is not appropriate -- I think it's probably possible once the witnesses have drafted this for us to discuss it offline and determine whether we disagree with anything in the calculation.

It's pretty mechanical.  I would be surprised if there's a whole lot of difference between what we think is the number and what they think is the number.  They will disagree as to whether that number is relevant, but the actual calculation is just, you know, it's pretty conventional utility accounting.

So what I would propose is that we try to settle on whether the document is correct or not and, if there is an issue, identify it precisely and why it's an issue.  That may be the better way to do it.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, I am all for trying to make this as efficient as possible.  When I hear it's pretty mechanical, pretty conventional, I just, I always have a bit of doubts that that's always the case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know, lawyers can argue about anything.


MR. TAYLOR:  As a lawyer, I am not really the right guy to be talking about this, but when I first heard about this interrogatory, my first question was, Well, don't you just plug in a couple numbers here and there, press "enter", and then you get the number that Jay is looking for, Mr. Shepherd is looking for?  And then I learned very quickly from speaking with Mr. Bradbury that it's really not that simple, that it's a more difficult exercise in that when you are dealing with a model.


That being said, I understand from Mr. Bradbury that there is a relatively easy -- relatively easy way of producing the information that Jay wants, but -- and this will probably go back to what you raise, Mr. Chair.  We don't know if the relatively easy way to produce the information is going to be based on assumptions that Mr. Shepherd agrees with.  And I would imagine at the time that, you know, when we provide that and he's cross-examining, then he will have an opportunity to ask questions about that and then make argument in final submissions as to the assumptions.  And if the Board were to disagree with any of the assumptions, then I imagine that we would be ordered to make an amendment in -- assuming that he is successful, make an amendment or adopt the assumptions that he wants in the draft rate order that we produce, and Mr. Shepherd would have another opportunity to comment on the draft rate order at that time, which is the normal process.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And I think that's what we were trying to avoid is that type of iterative process, by -- if up front, there was a way to nail down the assumptions in the interrogatory.  What I am getting at is expand the interrogatory if possible.  And maybe this isn't -- maybe this is just too theoretical, but if there is a practical way to expand the interrogatory that they have agreed to respond to in such a way that it removes that potential second iteration of agreed-to assumptions, rearrange assumptions so that the Board –- the Board would be assisted by having the best possible information for Schools the first time.  I think.

MR. VLAHOS:  So Mr. Shepherd, if I may, I guess in my mind there are two ways of dealing with it.  One is whether the output, it would be the company's evidence based on the way Interrogatory 34 is being phrased, or alternatively, it would be the company's simply the facilitator by lending the use of the model of the spreadsheet, whatever they have, based on assumptions that you're happy with.  You tell them:  Look, there are four or five variables here.  Here are things you should put in there and that can lead you to different ways of dealing with the matter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Might I suggest that I actually think that we are not going to disagree on this.  So I wonder if it's possible for us to discuss it at the break and determine whether we can agree on what the variables are, and come back to the Board and advise you if we can.

MR. VLAHOS:  As Mr. Quesnelle said -- and I want to repeat this -- we are driven by concern how much this proceeding has taken in terms of time.  And I was a bit concerned when I heard Mr. King the other day that, you know, this is the one out of all the interrogatories, this is the one that may take the longest, and we heard several weeks -- I can't remember when.  It was three or four weeks.

So that has given some concerns to the Panel.  So maybe we can leave that on that basis.

Now, is there anything else that you want to talk about, you two gentlemen, about the proceeding going forward?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are going to discuss the mechanics of –- that we actually have started a discussion this morning about the mechanics of how we come back to the lease.  I am not going to deal with the lease today.  As the Board indicated, this is not the time to do that and we don't have any of the evidence anyway.  And so we will work out the logistics; I think we are able to do that.  And I don't anticipate we will have a problem, but you know anything is possible, but I doubt it.


MR. TAYLOR:  But I think that the idea is that we would come back and Mr. Shepherd would have an opportunity to cross-examine the panel on the interrogatory responses and on the lease issue at a future date.  And that would be instead of another round of IRs or a technical conference or any other process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, we don't need that.

MR. VLAHOS:  And it's the interim that I was thinking about, Mr. Taylor, as to what do we do once we complete the evidentiary portion of all the other issues for the three utilities, then do we just lose that time waiting for that next phase or is there something we can do to progress this proceeding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We can discuss that as well at the break.

MR. VLAHOS:  Could you do that?  Because that is my concern: we don't want to lose a lot of time on this.  To the extent that we can feed all the other arguments, for example, and all the other issues, if that's possible we should attempt to do so.

MR. TAYLOR:  I see.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay?  All right.

With that, Mr. Shepherd, over to you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I should tell you that I did listen to some of Monday and -- over the internet, and I have also read the transcripts, so you don't need to repeat anything.  And if I get into something that you think you have explained fully on Monday, feel free to, you know, get me back in line.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, maybe just change your position a bit, because we cannot hear you very well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's my soft-spoken style.

MR. VLAHOS:  No, actually you're coming better now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  First, let me see if I can understand your respective roles from the four of you.  And I heard what your positions are; I understand that.  And I heard what evidence you're dealing with, but let me just ask a couple of questions.

Mr. Hawkes, you are general counsel but you are not here in the capacity as a lawyer, right?  You're here in the capacity as an executive of the company?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you -- your employer is Fortis Ontario?

MR. HAWKES:  My employer is Fortis Ontario, but I am also an officer of Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, of course, but in terms of who pays your paycheque, it's Fortis Ontario?

MR. HAWKES:  Mm-hmm.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you describe how the work you do for Canadian Niagara Power is recovered by Fortis Ontario from Canadian Niagara Power?

MR. HAWKES:  We -- the answer to that is in evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HAWKES:  In the BDR report.  We have allocated our time amongst the various business units.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your allocation, so for example, the time you are spending here today –-

MR. HAWKES:  Yes?

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that is all built into that comprehensive cost allocation between the various affiliated companies?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  There is nothing separately allocated because you're here today, for example?  You don't have cross-billing of an hourly rate or anything like that?

MR. HAWKES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now then, Mr. King, you're the CFO of Canadian Niagara Power?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're also the CFO of Fortis Ontario?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your employer is also Fortis Ontario, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're here in your capacity as an officer of Canadian Niagara Power?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the recovery of your time is the same as Mr. Hawkes?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but what percentage of your time, of your -- the cost to have you, as it were, is borne by CNP, do you think?  Can you just estimate generally?  I know it's big number.  I don't know what the number is.

MR. KING:  percentage of my time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, dollars.

MR. KING:  Dollars?  I don't know the exact dollars, I would prefer to say percentage of my time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KING:  I would follow about -- CNPI would take up approximately one-third to about half of my time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and so your allocation of your cost would be a similar percentage?

MR. KING:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that similar for you, Mr. Hawkes?

MR. HAWKES:  That's -– again, I think the BDR report speaks to that in terms of the allocation of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, and that's got lots of detailed information.  I am looking for a simpler answer.  Is that one-third to one-half, something like that?

MR. HAWKES:  I think it would be closer to 50 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now Mr. Bradbury, you're the director of regulatory affairs for Canadian Niagara Power, and your employer is Canada Niagara Power, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you the senior person employed by Canadian Niagara Power or are there people senior to you that are employed by that company?

MR. BRADBURY:  I am considered in the management group.  There are two directors.  I am the director of regulatory affairs.  We have a director of finance and then there is managers of the functional groups, which are line, line operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now the director of finance would report to you Mr. King, right?

MR. KING:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Bradbury, you report to Mr. --

MR. BRADBURY:  King.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. King, as well?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so in terms of dealing with the board of directors of Canadian Niagara Power, is that you, Mr. Bradbury, that does that or is that Mr. King or Mr. Hawkes?

MR. BRADBURY:  Mr. King reports to the board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then, Mr. -– and I'm sorry.  I only read the transcript, so I don't know how to pronounce your name.  Can you help me?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, sure.  It's Sheogobind.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sheogobind, okay.  Is that right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you also work for Fortis Ontario?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  No.  Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your CV says that you are manager of T&D, Fortis Ontario.  That's not right?


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  My paycheque comes from Canadian Niagara Power.  The reason it says Fortis Ontario in the CV is because I do have responsibility in the various Fortis Ontario territories.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you do some work on Cornwall, for example, and some work on transmission --

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct, and Gananoque, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then with respect to you and with respect to you, Mr. Bradbury, you do some work for companies other than Canadian Niagara Power.  How is your time recovered?  Also through this allocation method in the BDR report?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.  We are allocated as a full-time equivalent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do you have an idea of what percentage of your time is allocated to outside of CNP?

MR. BRADBURY:  My time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BRADBURY:  A small percentage of my time is allocated to Fortis Ontario, and there is an allocation to Cornwall Electric as well.  But basically I am about 20 percent to each one of our business units, distribution business units, a slightly lesser amount to transmission, and then slightly lesser amount then to Cornwall, because Cornwall is not a cost-of-service regulation, and then I think it's about 5 percent allocated back to Fortis Ontario.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you, Mr. Sheogobind, Sheo...?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sheogobind.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sheogobind.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, for myself I would guess a percentage of my time going to Cornwall Electric would probably be between 10 to 15 percent, just off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the rest is distribution, Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The rest is distribution, CNP, distribution in Fort Erie, Port Colborne, Eastern Ontario Power, and transmission.

I should point out as well that, unlike the other gentlemen here, in operations our time gets charged directly to orders that are associated with the different business units, so it's not a percentage allocation.

So if I were to spend, say, two hours on a project for Port Colborne, that two hours gets charged directly to Port Colborne.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You docket that time.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  It's docketed on time sheets, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that's not true of any of the rest of the members of this panel.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would typically be capital projects, or is that also operating --

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  It's both, capital and operating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a large percentage of your time?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sorry, that would go where?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would go -- that would be individually docketed to projects.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  100 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  100 percent?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, 100 percent of my time gets charged to work orders that would be -- that would go either to capital or operating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There are some other LDCs that I would like you to teach how to do that.

Okay.  And just one other thing that I want to ask before I get into the meat of your evidence, and that is, there was a technical conference in this proceeding; right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I didn't hear on Monday you adopt that evidence under oath.  Did I miss it?  And if you didn't, will you please adopt the evidence you gave in the technical conference under oath?

MR. TAYLOR:  We haven't done that, and I would actually -- I would like to look at the transcript before we do that, and make sure that we agree with everything and that it was transcribed correctly before we do that, so...

MR. VLAHOS:  What turns on it, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if they don't adopt the evidence, then it's not legally relevant for purposes of this proceeding.  The reason they adopt the IRs is because they are not given under oath, and only evidence under oath can be considered by the Board Panel.

So I want to be able to rely on some of the technical conference answers, rather than going through them again.  That's the whole point of the technical conference, is to save time in the hearing.  But I can't rely on them if they don't adopt them.

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Sebalj?

MS. SEBALJ:  I am taking a bit of a flier here, but I am pretty sure that the SPPA indicates that -- it's either the OEB Act or the SPPA, sorry.  Mr. Shepherd may know, or Mr. Taylor, better than I do -- but that this Panel is able to use evidence that is not given under oath.  In fact, I had occasion to look into this for an entirely different reason recently.

Because it is a practice, you are correct, Mr. Shepherd, that we -- that counsel instructs panels to adopt their IR evidence as under oath, but I am not sure that technical conference evidence is, because we have had occasion to look at this.

I would have to look at either the SPPA or the OEB Act where I found that, but I think that the panel is able to rely on evidence not provided under oath.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, if the panel is able to rely on that evidence, then do we have to formally --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I think, given the fact that Mr. Taylor has said, We are not sure whether we agree with it, we want to check it first, I can't rely on it, let alone the panel.  And therefore, now that he has said that, it seems to me now we have to have them confirm that it's correct, because he said it might not be.

MR. TAYLOR:  Why can't we just proceed, and if Mr. Shepherd has any questions about responses given at the technical conference, then he can ask questions about those?  I don't see that Mr. Shepherd is going to have to go over every single question asked at the technical conference, only the ones that he has concerns about, I would imagine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, quite the opposite.  Unless I can rely on the evidence -- the transcript of the technical conference in my argument, unless you'll tell me that it is correct, your witnesses will tell me that it is correct, then I have to ask every single one of those questions again, because I have to get them on the record so that I can then rely on them in my argument.

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I would suggest that Mr. Shepherd can rely on them in his argument.  I --

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, you can rely on those.  I am just not sure what turns on it.  You can rely on those.  You heard Mr. Taylor.  And it is also -- in my understanding, the practice of the Board is that it doesn't have to be admitted as sworn evidence, but reliance on that record is fine.  The technical conference would not have been transcribed, so I am not sure what turns on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I guess I am very concerned that we have witnesses that refuse to swear under oath to evidence they've given that's transcribed.

MR. VLAHOS:  Well, Mr. Taylor says that he is not going to argue that you should not rely on that evidence, so I am not sure what the problem is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you can turn, witnesses, to School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 2.

MR. KING:  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 2.  And you probably will want in considering this to also have beside you Exhibit K1.5 that you filed on Monday.  Do you have those?

MR. KING:  K1.5 being...?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the supplementary evidence you filed on Monday, 11 pages.

MR. KING:  Sorry, which interrogatory?

MR. SHEPHERD:  School Energy Coalition No. 2.  Do you have those?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 2, you see there's an attachment, which is a series of spreadsheets.  And we actually prepared the structure of the spreadsheets, and then you corrected them to put in more correct numbers, right?  We had our -- okay.

But these numbers now are correct.  You don't necessarily agree with the presentation, but the numbers in here are correct now.

MR. KING:  To the best of my ability, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the four spreadsheets are revenue requirement and deficiency calculation combined for all three utilities, and then one for each of Fort Erie, Gananoque, and Port Colborne, right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I just have a few questions about those.  I wonder if I could start by asking you, these were filed December 12th.  Are there any of these numbers that now need to be updated in any material way, or are they all still close to being accurate?

MR. KING:  Still close to being accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I know there will be some small differences, but as long as it's close, that's great.

So I wonder if you could start with the rate base line.  And I am looking at the combined chart right now.  And you have an increase in rate base of 41.6 percent, which you discussed on Monday, I know.

And so I want to ask you to take a look at -- start with Eastern Ontario Power rate base.  That has the biggest increase, right?  It's more than doubled since 2006 Board-approved, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand correctly, there are two reasons for that.  The first is, when you acquired the Eastern Ontario Power Limited, whatever they were called then, I don't remember, the system was basically in terrible shape, and you have spent a lot of money to try to bring it up to standard.

MR. KING:  We have spent a lot of capital on it.  I wouldn't characterize it as in terrible shape, but we spent a lot of capital on it, the system.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, was it in substandard state -- shape when you bought it?


MR. KING:  Portions of it were, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And part of the increase in rate base, a big part of the increase in rate base from 2006 Board-approved was actually spent prior to 2006, because 2006 was a historical year?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your 2006 actual was actually already a lot more than 2006 Board-approved, right?


MR. KING:  2006 Board-approved being 2004.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So this is the area of your operations that needed the most work, right?


MR. KING:  It needed work.  I don't know if I'd characterize as it needed the most work, but it certainly needed work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you increased -– you increased rate base by more than double, which is a lot more than the other two.  So presumably you prioritized and you decided it needed more work than Port Colborne and Fort Erie; right?


MR. KING:  It's all relative, but it needed work, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then take a look at Port Colborne.  Now in Port Colborne, you got a 77 percent increase in rate base over that same period.  And again, you have the same thing.  You have a big bump from 2006 Board-approved to 2006 actual, which means that a lot of spending happened in 2005 and '06, right?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And correct me if I am wrong, but that 77 percent increase is actually a little misleading, and I am not going to get into the lease, but there are a bunch of capital assets in Port Colborne that are not in rate base right now, right?  Because you are leasing them?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are four or $5 million, in terms of rate base value?  I am in the right range?


MR. KING:  I will go with you on that one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KING:  I am not sure of the exact number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you added them to both the 2006 and the 2009 number, then your increase is only about 50 percent, which is still lots but it's not nearly as much, right?


MR. KING:  Trusting your math, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But in the case of Fort Erie, you -- which is a bigger rate base to start with, of course, you have a much smaller increase from 2006 to 2009.  I take it that one of the reasons is it simply was in better shape in 2006 than it is -- than the other two.

MR. KING:  In terms of dollars, percentage-wise, Fort Erie is not up as much, but in dollars the -– there's more comparable between the three utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I understood that, but in terms of how much of this system you had to fix, had to make – had to improve, there was a lot less needed to be done relative to size in Fort Erie than either of the other two, right?


MR. KING:  I believe as we discussed on Monday, there were a couple of larger projects in both Eastern Ontario Power and Port Colborne that contributed significantly to the increase in rate base in both those franchise areas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's true, isn't it, that over the period 2005 and 2006, you actually spent about $5.6 million?  You increased your rate base by about $5.6 million in Fort Erie, meaning that the actual spending since then has been quite low.  Spending in the last three years has only been about $2 million, right?


MR. KING:  Yeah.  It's a rate base number you are talking here, so I would have to see the net fixed assets, obviously, to look at a gross number as opposed to a net number that you are referring to here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True, but what I'm trying to get at -– and I am not trying to nail down specific numbers.  I am trying to get at the concept that you focussed your capital spending and your improvement of your system in the last three years on Port Colborne and Eastern Ontario, because they needed it more.


MR. KING:  Maybe we should step back a little bit.  These two utilities that -– one we acquired, Eastern Ontario Power, and the second one we leased -- we recognized --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hang on.  Go ahead.

MR. KING:  Step back a little bit here.  Two utilities that -- one that we acquired, Eastern Ontario Power and Port Colborne, upon acquiring those, we recognized that there was some work required and we concentrated a little more effort in those areas to bring them up to our standard, as well as in those two particular areas, there were some larger projects needed to happen, which contributed more significantly to the growth in the rate base.  And when you put a substation in Eastern Ontario Power, that costs -- I am guessing the number -- about $1.5 million, and the original rate base was only three and a half million dollar.  In percentage terms, that's quite significant, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the same is true in Port Colborne where you have to -– you have some big projects, Beach Road and another one that you have to do right now?


MR. KING:  And we had to do.  There was some submarine cables that we had to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's right, and because of that, that's a higher percentage increase because a big project is -- has more impact on a smaller utility?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yeah.  I think in a -- if I could jump in -- in a very general sense, I think in Fort Erie what we have been able to do over the last several years is maintain a fairly consistent level of capital spending, and there haven't been the big bumps in Fort Erie.  Like one of the major drivers for capital in Fort Erie is the ongoing voltage conversion program, which is like a 20-year program, so it's fairly consistent.  Whereas like Mr. King was pointing out, in the other two territories of Port Colborne and Gananoque, there have been more specific larger-scale projects that have contributed to the, I guess relatively larger increases when compared to Fort Erie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I am trying to get at -- and obviously, ratepayers will have some concern at the significant increase in your rate base, and you have said in your evidence that it's the increase in your rate base that's really driving your increase, right?  67 percent of it.


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that what you said?


MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you'll understand that ratepayers would be concerned about that.  And so what I am trying to get at is where the big percentage increases are in Eastern Ontario and Port Colborne, am I right that you are not trying to make them gold-plated?  You are not trying to make them wonderful systems; you are trying to bring them up to standard?


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I would say that is correct.  Like we are very, very far away from making things gold-plated.  We are just trying to bring things up to standard, where we can provide a safe and reliable electric supply to our customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then let me leave the rate base line, and I wonder if you can go back to the combined chart and take a look at the section "operating costs"?


Now, you did a little bit of analysis on Monday where you talked about OM&A excluding the Port Colborne lease, right?  You also excluded a couple of other things, but I am just going to exclude that for now.  And so this calculation, this line "total OM&A" that you see there, that's OM&A excluding the Port Colborne lease, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I just want to ask a couple of specific questions about this.  You see the line "administration and general"?


MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your Board-approved is significantly greater than your 2006 actual, but then you have a bump in 2007 and then it drops in 2008 and '09.  Is that the severance costs?


MR. KING:  It's partly attributable to the early retirement program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, so that's the $307,000, whatever; it was $307,000?


MR. KING:  That's not the exact number, but yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I have $307,000 in your SEC Interrogatory No. 5, attachment B.  Is that number not correct?


MR. KING:  There were a couple of pieces to the early retirement program.  There was the -- there was a stipend that was paid, as well as your extra pension expense costs.  And the 307, I'd have to confirm, but I believe that related to the stipend that was paid.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is an extra payment you make.  Is it like a termination payment or is it like you continue to pay their salary for a while, while they're -- before their retirement?  How does that -- how did that work?


MR. KING:  I am not sure if that's really relevant.  Is it not -– is that costs we are looking to recover?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.


MR. KING:  Well, but all I am getting at is this is something we negotiated with our employees and we have not asked the Board to pay for that, so how we calculated that is not really relevant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so that's what I am asking about because, you know, I'm looking at your 2006 Board-approved.  It says $3.4 million in that category, and you actually only spent 3 million.


So you had the $400,000 in your pocket to spend it in 2007, didn't you?  You said that the shareholder ate it, but the shareholder didn't eat it.

MR. KING:  Pardon me?  The shareholder didn't eat it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Take a look at the combined revenue deficiency, $3.4 million in your Board-approved.


MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You spent 3 million.  So you had the $400,000 left, right?

MR. KING:  But you are just picking one number in the whole set of rates.  You are just picking the admin costs.  Well, there are other pieces within that formula that were above and beyond.

I guess the real test here is, when we asked for those 2006 Board-approved rates, was that cost in there.  And that $3.4-million in particular, that cost wasn't in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, because it was an historical basis.


MR. KING:  Even if it was a forward basis, we never asked for that cost.  That cost of that early retirement program was not in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is true that you had the budget.  You had enough budget in that category to pay for it, and you paid for it.

MR. KING:  No, we didn't have a budget for that.  That was not budgeted in 2004, nor was it spent in 2004.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just ask about a couple of others of these categories.  Take a look at the operating and maintenance and billing and collections lines.

MR. KING:  Correct.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Were there any significant shifts in categorization of expenses in this period between those lines, something material, not little stuff, just material stuff?

MR. KING:  I don't recollect anything significant happening, but I should caution, as we did point out in our evidence, we did change our mapping, and where prior to -- in 2006 EDR we manually mapped -- we don't use the OEB chart of accounts to run our business.  We manually mapped over to the OEB chart of accounts, and we changed our process, whereby our system now will map it automatically, so we did a detailed review of that.  So there was some change in there, as well as there was likely some misclassifications.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they were all relatively small?

MR. KING:  I can't recall if they were all, but, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am driving at is, can we assume that those lines are relatively comparable from 2006 Board-approved to 2009 test year?

MR. KING:  I will agree to it, but I can't say for 100 percent, but I will work with you on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I don't know the answer to this.  I need to know from you that we can make the comparison.

MR. KING:  I think they are relatively, I think...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your maintenance has increased by 19 percent over that period, and in fact your maintenance, actually, in 2006 was significantly lower than your Board-approved by about, it looks like about 15, 17, 18 percent lower than Board-approved.  So you actually had about a 30 percent increase in maintenance costs.

MR. KING:  I should caution that if between the two, operations and maintenance -- billing and collections is one thing, between operations and maintenance.  That one does swing back and forth a bit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so that's why I asked the question.

MR. KING:  Okay.  Well, I should caution there, that one swings back and forth a bit between operations and maintenance.  My preference would be to combine the two -- well, obviously not combine here.  That's not how we present it.  But those two swing back and forth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KING:  But billing and collections is a totally, obviously, separate type of function, so that one wouldn't obviously swing as much.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, the reason I am asking this is:  You have spent a lot of money on capital expenditures, and normally the result of that is your maintenance costs go down.  That should be the case normally, right?

MR. KING:  Over the long-term, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is three years.  In fact, because 2006 was based on 2004, as LDCs are quick to point out, it's five years.  So I don't see in the maintenance line any material benefit from all this capital spending, and I don't understand why.  So I wonder if you can help us to understand why that is.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Okay.  I will try to speak to that, if I may.  You are absolutely correct, in that, you know, there was a lot of capital spending in the last few years, and we talked about some of those projects earlier, but there also was a need to increase maintenance in Port Colborne.

And again, the reason for that is, we are trying to maintain existing assets and optimize the use that we are getting out of them, and we want those assets to last a long time.

And I think what you will see in future over the long-term, I think you will see those maintenance costs decreasing as a result of the capital investments, but the increases in maintenance that you see were as a result of need.  Like, I know -- and I am trying not to get too granular, because I am just relying on memory, but I know in 2006 and 2007 we did ramp up our substation maintenance, for example, because of the fact that there had not been a lot of substation maintenance done in several years prior to that, and there was a need to get in there and maintain those substations, basically so that they didn't fall apart on us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but you had a -- you had one -- you don't have a whole lot of substations, right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  There are six.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Six exactly.  So one of them was a mess, and you replaced it, right?  That was in Gananoque.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So a big -- you would have been spending a lot of money on maintenance in Gananoque, presumably, because it was mess, and once you replaced it, you weren't any more, right?  Isn't that a big saving?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, the major capital investment in Gananoque was for a single substation.  And again, without getting too granular, I think prior to that, in  Gananoque -- because you are just talking about a single asset, so you wouldn't have seen huge maintenance costs for that single asset.

I think in Gananoque most of our maintenance costs over the past several years have been line maintenance, whereas in Port Colborne, what I am trying to get at is the fact that there were substations that needed to be maintained, even though we were also investing in capital to replace assets that had reached the end of their useful life.

So really it was kind of a two-pronged approach that was being taken.  We had to increase the capital investments, but we also had to maintain existing assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying is, in Eastern Ontario you weren't really spending a lot of money to maintain the substation.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  There was money that was being spent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it wasn't the bulk of your budget.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  No, I wouldn't say that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a fairly rural area, right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Most of Gananoque is very rural, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you had a lot of line maintenance, as opposed to the substation.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then -- and so if we look at the breakdown, the spreadsheets here, Eastern Ontario, there is an increase from 155 to 205 in maintenance costs from 2006 actual to 2009, which is 30 percent, but -- and I guess it's a little bit surprising, but presumably you have been increasing line maintenance because of problems there as well; is that right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, that's correct.  Like, one of the things we have done over the last few years is, we have put together more systematic maintenance programs.  Like, for instance, we do programmed line-inspection programs and substation inspection programs and things like that.  So we have become a lot more systematic, in terms of our maintenance programs, over the last few years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in Gananoque, am I right in -- I am just recalling this offhand, so tell me if I am wrong.  Am I right that the line maintenance is actually done by Cornwall Electric crews?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Some of it is done by the crews in Gananoque.  In fact, I would say the bulk of line maintenance is done by crews in Gananoque itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only time you use Cornwall is when you have excess needs.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Exactly.  A more major line project, for example, is when we would bring in crews from Cornwall Electric, like a major capital project in Gananoque or storm restoration, things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much you have paid to Cornwall for work in Gananoque over the last few years?  Is that in the evidence somewhere?

MR. KING:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know where it is?

MR. KING:  I think it's in a response to -- no, it was in a response to one of your interrogatories.  Just bear with me for a second.  I looked for it last night and I couldn't find it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know what?  Why don't we leave that, and I wonder if you can take a look at the break and see if you can find it --

MR. KING:  I can get it right now if you want it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Good.

--- Pause in proceedings.

MR. KING:  Jay, I think we probably should wait.  Just, I can't put my hand on it.  Instead of waiting --

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a small number.  I don't want to hold things up.


MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you turn then to the -– oh, let me just ask one other thing.  Have you changed the formula under which -- or the rates you pay to Cornwall for that work in those three years?

MR. KING:  Yeah, I can speak to that.  The rates would change as employee wages change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am not talking about –-


MR. KING:  Yeah, no –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- 3 percent a year.  I'm talking about --


MR. KING:  Fundamentally, the rates haven't changed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so –-


MR. KING:  The rate, the formula hasn't changed, if that was your question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there wouldn't be a big jump in the unit cost of having Cornwall do the work?


MR. KING:  Correct, correct.  To go back to your question, can I go back?  I just found the answer to your previous question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, fine.


MR. KING:  That was in SEC No. 9, and there was an attached table.  I will give you a chance to pull it up there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah.  Okay.


MR. KING:  You had asked about the charges from all the affiliates annually.  In 2009, EOP is forecasted to be charged $86,000 by Cornwall Electric for operations and maintenance costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2009?

MR. KING:  Sorry, on the bottom of the page?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah?


MR. KING:  Third line from the bottom.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KING:  You see "CNPI EOP"?  The charges it had received from or it -- anticipate to receive from Cornwall Electric, direct and operations maintenance from Cornwall Electric, $86,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe I am looking at the wrong thing.  Just a second.


MR. KING:  SEC No. 9.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No. 9.  This is the -– this is page 6 of 6?


MR. KING:  2 of 2.


MR. KING:  2 of 2.  Are you in your supplementary or are you in the original?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm in the –- okay, so here we are.  "Management charges from FON"?  Is that the one you're talking about?


MR. KING:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, here we are, "Direct operations" --


MR. KING:  Third line from the bottom?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Okay.


MR. KING:  Direct and operations?


MR. SHEPHERD:  86,000.

MR. KING:  86,000.  I should -- can I add one other thing to your comment, with respect, to get it on the record?  The increase in the maintenance costs for Gananoque, you had referred to the total maintenance costs in Gananoque was 155,000 in 2006, moving to 205,000 in –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. KING:  -- in 2009, for -- I forget the percentage you had said, but approximately 45,000 of that increase, and it's a $50,000 increase, is for overhead distribution lines and feeders right-away costs, i.e. vegetation management.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had no vegetation management costs in 2000 --


MR. KING:  We had 41,000 in vegetation management costs in 2006 actual, and we had 86,000 in 2009 test year.  So that 50,000 increase, 45,000 of it was with respect to vegetation management.  So obviously there was nets in there, but that's a net number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so let me just -- I hate a coincidence.  So $86,000 looks like what you are paying to Cornwall Electric.  Are they connected?


MR. KING:  No, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's just a coincidence?


MR. KING:  We contract out the 95 percent of our vegetation management.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. KING:  That was just stretching that one a bit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Turn to Port Colborne then.  The -– again, and I am still in No. 2, right?


MR. KING:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in Port Colborne, your maintenance costs have gone up from 2006 actual to 2009 by about 42, 43 percent.  And that does seem a little bit like a big jump for a utility that has substantial capital -- new capital investment.  Can you help me with that?


MR. KING:  Just bear with me and let me haul out the Port Colborne binder.


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Again, I think those maintenance costs are basically just in response to need.  I think part of it has to do with the fact that we are becoming a lot more systematic about our maintenance programs.  Much of it basically has to do with maintaining assets to extend their useful life, and it is something that had to be ramped up in order to keep maintaining those assets.


Again, going forward, I do think that over the long term with the capital investments and the fact that we're replacing assets, I think you are going to see those maintenance costs start to come down, but those increases were really as a response to needs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And was there something specific or is it a general increase in need?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think it was a general increase in maintenance.  Again, you know, we became a lot more systematic about going out and doing line inspections and doing things like load break switch maintenance on the lines and things like that, which hadn't been done before.  And I know –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  So –-


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sorry.  I know substation maintenance was ramped up in like 2006, 2007, because of the fact that there hadn't been a lot of substation maintenance done in years prior to that.


MR. KING:  I can just –- like I dug into the details a little bit.  OEB account 5125 and 5130, maintenance of overhead conductors and devices and maintenance of overhead services, respectively, from 2006 actual to 2009 test year have increased by approximately $100,000.  This is in maintenance, so the total increase is approximately 200 -- or $180,000 or so, so a big portion -– a big portion would be related to those two categories, maintenance of overhead conductors and devices and of overhead services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is no particular cause for that?  It is just -– is it just that you're -– because you're being more systematic, you're noticing more things you have to fix?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think that is part of it, yes.  We are seeing more things that need to be addressed.  Of course, the X-factor in there is that some of that is preventative maintenance, but some of that is corrective maintenance, in that something breaks and we have to fix it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I wonder if you could turn to Fort Erie, still dealing with maintenance.  And Fort Erie has the biggest jump from 2006 actual to 2009, and so I want to ask you first about the 2006 actual number, because 2006 Board-approved, which is really your 2004 actual, is significantly higher.  So you dropped your maintenance spending between 2004 and 2006; is that right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sorry, one sec.  We are just trying to get our direct numbers here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. KING:  In Fort Erie, as you recollect, we had a October 2006 natural disaster.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, this is the storm?


MR. KING:  That factor.  It was a storm year, so some of the numbers may not be reflective of long-term trends as it relates to those costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it's not that there is an increase in 2009.  There is a blip in 2006, because your crews couldn't do maintenance.  They with too busy reacting to the storm?


MR. KING:  That's part of the reason, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  You recovered that cost, right, separately?


MR. KING:  We recovered incremental cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you took the employees that you assigned to the storm activities and you recovered that from ratepayers, right?  You did an allocation?


MR. KING:  No, only what we recovered in that Z-factor was incremental costs, so it would have been third-party contractors, A, and B, any additional overtime costs.


Any costs of our employees that were already built in rates, we did not look to collect that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we were to look at that 2006 actual figure, which is $250,000 below the prior years and is lower than your normal spending, there is really probably another 250 or $300,000 in there that was money you spent on the storm for those same people, but they worked on the storm instead.


MR. KING: Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't recover it separately from ratepayers?


MR. KING:  Right, and it could have been -- let me just add one more thing to that.  Those costs that otherwise would have went to capital, now got put in.  So some of those employees could have been working on capital programs, and now they were working on operating
programs –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  So it may have been actually a lot more than $250,000?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  I get it.  Okay.  Now let me come to the "operations" line, and in operations it looks like -- I will start with Port Colborne.  It looks like Port Colborne is pretty routine.  I mean 2006 actual was higher than Board-approved, but that's because it was two years later than the Board-approved was based on, right?


MR. KING:  Possibly, yes.  I don't have the exact numbers.  I can haul out my binder if you want me to again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it looks like you are in that same sort of range in operating costs year after year in Port Colborne.

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it looks like the same is true in Eastern Ontario Power.  In fact, it's gone down in the test year relative to 2006 actual, but it's in roughly the same range, right?


MR. KING:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  However, I look at Fort Erie and 2006 actual is way, way higher than the -- either the years before or after.  Is there an explanation of that somewhere?

MR. KING:  Let me look through my binder for some more detail, but don't caution my earlier caveat about some flip-flopping back and forth between operations and maintenance.  But I will have a look and see if there's any details I can help you understand that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't need an undertaking, just if you can take a look at the --


MR. KING:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I'd appreciate it.


MR. KING:  No, I can look right now as we are speaking.  Might as well move this process forward, as opposed to...


MR. SHEPHERD:  You want to have time for coffee in the break?


MR. VLAHOS:  I was going to say, don't complete your statement, Mr. King.


MR. KING:  So your question was between 2006 Board-approved, the 714,000, and 2007 actual --

MR. SHEPHERD:  2006 actual.


MR. KING:  2006 actual?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KING:  Oh, the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  1356.

MR. KING:  Yes, okay.  Well, don't forget, that's where the storm costs got charged to.  Obviously, there was a dip in maintenance in '06, so the costs were charged to operating.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, so these operating costs include the storm costs that you recovered separately?


MR. KING:  Absolutely.  They were paid by the company.  They had to be charged somewhere, and they were operating costs.


You had mentioned $250,000 is -- I will use that as your number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I --


MR. KING:  Yes, I know you just made up a number, but there is a number in there.  I can't say the exact number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wouldn't have characterized it as just making up a number, but...


MR. KING:  Well, yes, you had said a number, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a guess.


MR. KING:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you know how much that number was?  See, I want to make these numbers comparable year to year, and it's hard to compare your 2006 actual with your 2009 test year if we don't know what your real operating cost was in 2006.

MR. KING:  Yes, there is challenges associated with that, and the exact number.  There are various people charging to it.  We sort of took out one storm type number, and there was -- we had a revision, then we didn't have a revision, so there are some ins and outs there.  So I can't tell you the exact number of the storm costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us, like, a bigger-than-a-bread-basket type of number?


MR. KING:  If you -- we went to a Z factor application, there are some details with respect to that in the Z factor, but I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I don't want to narrow it down to the penny.  I just want to get an idea, are we talking about 100,000 or 500- or a million?


MR. KING:  I would say somewhere between zero and 500,000 -- about $500,000.  But again, I am cautious to go on the record with that exact number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's okay.  That gives us a sense of the size.


MR. KING:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Now, the result of that, it seems to me -- and tell me whether this is  right -- is that your operating costs in Fort Erie as well, subject to that blip in 2006, are also roughly in a similar range year in, year out, right?

MR. KING:  Except for, obviously, the drop we had in 2008, but, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But still within 100,000, and, you know, from year to year you have a little variation each year, right?


MR. KING:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn, then, to administration and general, because that's the one that is the most confusing to me.  And I will start with Port Colborne.  It was in Port Colborne -- and this is excluding the lease, right?


MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In Port Colborne it looks like your A&G expenses are pretty even.

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?


MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, are most of those expenses charges that are incurred -- are charged by Fortis Ontario or other affiliates?


MR. KING:  Correct.  The majority are shared services costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I think you have already given evidence that you haven't changed your methodology for how you do that -- those shared services between 2006 and 2009 in any material way.

MR. KING:  There has been -- yes, there has been some tweaking, but I wouldn't characterize it as material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then it's not surprising that you got a 3.3 percent increase over Board-approved, and you got, I guess, about a, what, about a -- it looks like an 8 percent increase from actual, in that range, right?  In Port Colborne?


MR. KING:  I will trust your math.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be fair to conclude that this is essentially inflation and that's sort of normal factor, nothing special has happened?

MR. KING:  Well, yeah, but we continue to look at, in general, reducing our admin costs, and so there was inflation certainly driving our costs up, but without some of our early retirement programs and other things we do to reduce costs, the costs would otherwise have been higher.  So there are initiatives in there that made those costs what they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did the early retirement program affect Port Colborne?

MR. KING:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  All right.  Then you have in Eastern Ontario Power, Gananoque, you actually have quite a drop, almost 20 percent, from 2006 actual to 2009.  Is that -- 2006 actual appears to be high there.  Is that because something special happened in 2006 in Gananoque that caused that to be high?

MR. KING:  I would -- I would have to go to our evidence, as we provide variance analysis on that to make commentary on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will leave it --


MR. KING:  Okay.  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and if you can help us later, that would be useful.

And then let's go to Fort Erie, because in Fort Erie you have an increase from 2006 actual to 2009 of, it looks like about 14 percent.  And the -- I am a little surprised at this, because this is where you would have the biggest impact of your early retirement program, right?


MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why?


MR. KING:  Well, the early retirement program happened at CNPI and Fortis Ontario, and if one person in finance was retiring -- I will just use that as an example -- well, those costs were all shared, so they would be -- so relatively speaking, the costs of -- everyone would pick up a piece of that, or the savings and benefit from that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But since Fort Erie is the biggest of the distribution facilities, they'd pick up the biggest share of the cost, right?


MR. KING:  But they also have the biggest costs, so you may not see it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in terms of percentages, yes, but in terms of dollars, they would have the biggest dollar impact of those shared...

MR. KING:  Yes, they would have the biggest, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I take it as correct that the 1872 in 2007 --

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that includes the early retirement program, right?


MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no amount of early retirement program included in Port Colborne or Eastern Ontario in those -- in that year, is there?


MR. KING:  There would be some in Port Colborne.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that's why it's up a little bit from 2006 to 2007?  Because it looks to be a normal increase.  It doesn't look to be unusual.

MR. KING:  In Port Colborne?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KING:  Yes, well, there would be some costs with respect to Port -- some early retirement costs in Port Colborne.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the bulk of them were applied to Fort Erie.  You've got 307 -- or more than 307.  I think you had a number somewhere of 461,000 of early retirement costs.


MR. KING:  As you say, in absolute dollars, the bulk of it, more than Port Colborne or EOP, or certainly more than Port Colborne would be within Fort Erie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but I am being more specific here.  In Fort Erie you have an increase in 2007, it looks like $300,000, $350,000, and you don't have much at all in the other two, it appears.


MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?

MR. KING:  In 2007 over 2006, the -- how would I word this?  Well, obviously, there are other costs besides the early retirement costs associated with those entities, so there could have been savings in those other costs.  It's not -- all the variability here are not directly -- necessarily all related to early retirement program.  There is other accounts here, other variabilities in those accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And understand, Mr. King, that I am not trying to question your 2007 numbers.  That's a past year.  It doesn't matter.  What I am trying to do is I am trying to determine the comparability of old numbers to new numbers so that the Board can understand how much these categories have been increasing over time.

MR. KING:  I appreciate that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I am trying to get a sense that you've got -- a special thing happened in 2007, and I would like to be able to back that out so the 2007 number becomes comparable to 2009.  Can you help me with that?


MR. KING:  Yes, one second.


[Pause in proceedings]
 
MR. KING:  Can you repeat your question?  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  What I am trying to do is I'm trying to identify the unusual costs in 2007 relating to -- related to early retirement.


MR. KING:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And apply it to the three utilities, so that I can make their A&G costs for 2007 comparable to 2009 numbers, so you can compare the units.


MR. KING:  Okay, okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that data or can you provide it?

MR. KING:  We could probably provide that data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you mind?

MR. KING:  Yeah.

MS. SEBALJ:  I believe we are marking undertakings JT, so that would be JT3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.1:  TO ASSESS unusual costs in 2007 related to early retirement and apply it to the three utilities

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to record on the record that it took me to quarter to 11:00 to ask for an interrogatory, which is a record for me.  Okay.  Now I want to -- I am going to turn to another area.  Is the Board Panel ready for a break now or do you want me to go to 11:00 clock?

MR. VLAHOS:  We are in your hands, Mr. Shepherd.  Can you take us to 11:00 o'clock or would you rather break?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I could take you to 11 o'clock.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So I wonder if you could go to Interrogatory -- School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 5.  I am looking in particular at attachment B.  Do you have that?

MR. KING:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and can you tell me what that is?

MR. KING:  That is the -- from the Fortis Ontario business plan, the forecast of operating expenses for the business distribution -- CNPI business distribution units.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so --

MR. KING:  For five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what was the date of this -- that these numbers were produced?  Or that they were approved, sorry; what date were they approved?

MR. KING:  In October.

MR. SHEPHERD:  October '08?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So just -- if you can take a look at the 2008 forecast numbers there for -- in that attachment B, and I just want to make sure I understand how these numbers relate to other data you filed.  You have a number, the distribution, 3,165; do you see that?

MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  3 million, 165 for 2008.  And if you go back to the combined revenue requirement and deficiency in No. 2, School Energy Coalition No. 2, that's the total of operating and maintenance, isn't it?

MR. KING:  It should be; correct.  Approximately.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and it's not exact because now you have slightly better numbers for operating and maintenance than you did when you got your budget approved in October, but it's very close.

MR. KING:  Umm...

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is 3,153 and this is 3,165.

MR. KING:  Just to go back a little bit, I don't know if we have better numbers.  The numbers that were used to develop the business plan are the similar numbers that were used to develop the rate application.  So you asked when they were approved and I said October, but when they are prepared, the business plan numbers were prepared, would have been around the same time the rate application numbers were prepared.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Were they parallel processes or were they coordinated processes?

MR. KING:  Coordinated?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  Did you do a set of numbers then apply them to regulatory and to budget, or did you do -- you have two sets of numbers being developed and then you compared them?

MR. KING:  There's only one set of numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so anyway, that 3,165 line is the first two lines in No. 2, right?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next one, general, 2,824, I am correct that that's the A&G line; right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KING:  The majority of it would be, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that's 2,824, and it's 2,970 in your filing.  Do you know what that difference is?

MR. KING:  Off the top, no, I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the next one, customer service is 1,922, and you have 1,875 plus, I assume, community relations is also bundled in there?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As customer service, right?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's 1,899, which is pretty close to 1,922.  Is that -- am I reading this right?

MR. KING:  It should be.  Around those numbers, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the last, municipal and other taxes are property taxes and capital taxes, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have 130 plus 151 in the combined revenue and deficiency in your application, and you have 269 in your operating budget.  So they are also pretty close, right?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure I understand how the numbers compare.


MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now I want to go to 2009.  In 2009, the budget approved by your, I guess, board, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Says that your distribution costs will be 3,083, but what you have asked the Board, this Board, to give you is 1,502 plus 1,764, which by my calculations is 3,267?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know why that is?

MR. KING:  No, I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in A&G, you've got a budget approved of 2,883, and you've got an amount you've asked this Board to approve of 3,072, which is $89,000 more.  Do you know why that is?

MR. KING:  No, I don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in customer service, you've actually asked for slightly less, about $50,000.  And then of course municipal and other taxes below the line in the combined revenue and deficiency -- so in fact you see the million, 8-million-239, 8,238,854?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  You see that?

MR. KING:  Yeah, I see it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually comparable to 8,160 minus 235, isn't it?  On the other --

MR. KING:  Generally speaking, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that means that your board said your budget is 7,925, 7-million-925, and you are asking this Board to give you 8 million 239 recovery from ratepayers?

MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is $314,000 or about four-and-a-half per cent more than your board said you can spend.


MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you help us with that?

MR. KING:  I don't recollect.  I haven't reconciled those two numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to ask you to give us an undertaking to reconcile those numbers, because I mean obviously the argument we would be making -- and I am trying to be fair to you, because I'm sure you are not trying to pull the wool over the eyes of the Board, I get that.  The argument we are going to be making is you can't recover from the ratepayers more than your own board of directors has said you can spend.


MR. KING:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  So presumably something has happened and we need a reconciliation of that 314,000; can you do that?

MR. KING:  Yes, we can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  That will be marked JT3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.2:  TO RECONCILE 314,000

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now still on this exhibit -- it's School Energy Coalition No. -– what was it, 5, attachment B, we talked about, Mr. -– sorry –-

MR. KING:  King.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Sheogobind.


MR. KING:  Oh, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked about the fact that your maintenance has gone up but it's going to go down.  When do you expect that to go down?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think what we were talking about at the time and I was -- what I was specifically talking about was the amount of labour hours that is spent on maintenance activities like your substation maintenance and line maintenance.  I would expect that you would start to see those costs -- again, costs in terms of hours -- decreasing after the next three years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have been spending significantly on capital?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Since 2005.


MR. SHOEOGOBIND:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's now 2009 and you are telling us it's going to be 2013 before we start to see the benefit of that big spending program.  Tell us why that is.


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think it is -- I think it's going to take us another three years to get the systems in the different territories to the point where we would start to see those benefits, in terms of a reduction in the time we spend on maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I don't understand is, this is not one of those things where you just fall off a cliff.  As you improve your system, you should have incremental savings that arise from that; right?  If you put in a new substation, you save money on substation maintenance; right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I would have thought from day one, from 2005 your maintenance should have been going down, and I don't understand why it isn't.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, you are correct, in the sense that, you know, we replace an asset -- take, for example, the substation in Gananoque.  And we are going to see efficiencies as a result of that and reductions in maintenance, because it's a brand-new substation with brand-new equipment.

I mean, you still have to do your periodic inspections, et cetera.  But keep in mind that there's still -- outside of that substation, there is still an entire system that still has to be maintained, and there are portions of that system that require a great deal of attention still.

And until such time as, you know, we've had a few more years with our capital programs to continue to replace aging assets, you are not going to see a substantial decrease in maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am having a hard time connecting the two.  You are saying, yes, it's true, if you replace something old with something new, maintenance of it goes down --

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and you are saying, but until you're finished the program you don't see a savings?  I don't get that.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  You wouldn't see a significant savings, because we still have to maintain other parts of the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's say you are at the point where you have fixed half the system.  And I know it doesn't work this way, but I am trying to simplify.  Remember, I am a lawyer, not an engineer.  So you have fixed half the system, right?  Does that mean that your maintenance costs on half the system go down, or does that mean that you take the people that would have been doing the maintenance on that half a system, which now can do a lot less, and you do more maintenance on the other half?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is there some way that you prioritize that?  Like, at the end of the day then, do you just say, Okay.  We finished our program.  We are now up to speed.  We can get rid of these ten employees?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  No, it's not quite that simple, because you're still going to need your employees to do basic functions on your system.  There are still basic operations functions that need to be carried out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But just help me with that.  If you have less maintenance to do, don't you need less people to do it?

MR. BRADBURY:  Maybe I can interject with a real-life example.  We've talked a fair bit about the Gananoque substation.  The Gananoque substation that was in Gananoque was rudimentary, we will say.  It didn't have a grounding grid.  It was just basically a transformer, a pole in front of it, three fuses on the pole.  It dropped down, two wires came off each bushing, and they went in directions, and there were three cutouts, and now you've got two feeders.

Well, that's not the way you build a substation.  So now we built a substation in Gananoque which has a 44 kV breaker that can be controlled on primers, and now we have better fault -- we can protect ourselves against faults, should it be a Hydro One fault or a fault on our -- so the transformer is better protected.  We just don't have a rudimentary fuse.

We have reclosers on each one of the feeders, so, you know, if there is a bump on the feeder, we are not going to have a fuse blow, like if a bird or a squirrel contacts something.  We won't have a fuse blow that we've got to send out a lineman, but it'll open for 20 seconds, reclose, the fault is cleared, the power is back on.  However --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you.  So you don't need to send out the lineman.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, right.  However, okay.  What you had there before required a rudimentary amount of maintenance.  So a lineman came, and he looked at a pole, you know, the cutouts looked good, you know, everything is fine, but now you are going to send electrical crew once a year to do overall breaker maintenance.

So as you modernize your system, you inherently introduce certain new maintenance regimes.  We have to go now and -- and I am not sure if it's a vacuum breaker or if it's an SF6 breaker or oil breaker.  I don't stay that close to operations.  But that breaker will take maybe, what, a day and a half to do -- two days for an electrical crew to do a full substation maintenance, whereas before the guy got out of his truck, Well, looks good.

You know, so you can't draw an analogy that you put something brand-new in, you have eliminated your maintenance.  In a lot of cases you have introduced new maintenance regime.  So you can't just say "new" means reduced maintenance.

I agree with you, like, you know, the fuse didn't blow, the recloser locked back in power, so you have reduced that cost, but you have introduced new costs as well, so you just can't -- one doesn't completely offset the other.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and that's where I am trying to understand it, because Mr. Sheogobind said, Well, yes, if you do the capital spending, your maintenance costs go down.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you are saying, I think, Well, no, if you do the capital spending, your maintenance costs don't go down.

MR. BRADBURY:  What I am saying is, you can't say, because you put something in brand-new, you don't have to maintain it as much.  You have introduced new equipment that requires maintenance.  Over time I think you see a marginal decrease in maintenance costs.  But you can't say, in my opinion, that you put in a new piece of equipment; therefore, your maintenance costs were eliminated.  You -- all the maintenance for that substation is gone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the benefit of this capital spending then isn't primarily to reduce operating costs.  It's --

MR. BRADBURY:  It has a number of benefits.  It improves system integrity.  You know, the customers will have a 20-second outage instead of a three-hour outage, in the case of a blown fuse or something.

So there a myriad of benefits and costs, but you can't zone in on one thing and say, I have replaced a piece of equipment.  Therefore, I don't have to maintain it anymore.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so that's -- see, the other side of this is, if you spend money to have a better system, bring it up to standard, as you said, then your service quality indicators should show substantial improvement.  That's the natural result.

MR. BRADBURY:  As you extend out, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have they?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The numbers -- we did see an improvement in our numbers for year 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Was it comparable to the sort of spending you have been doing?  You have been doing a lot of spending, and so I'm --

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that paying off in lower SAIDI or SAIFI or CAIDI or any of that stuff?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Again, it's hard to draw an exact correlation between saying, you know, I have put "X" amount of dollars into the system; therefore, I should see this type of improvement in reliability.

Again, over time you will see improvements in reliability because of the investments we are making.  In Gananoque, if I can talk about Gananoque, for example, the 2008 reliability numbers in Gananoque were excellent.  And I think part of that is a result of some of the improvements we have made in Gananoque.

Are we going to see that type of excellent performance every year?  No, because there is always the impact of storms, for example, and it's a primarily overhead distribution system.  So you are not going to see great reliability results every year.

But, yes, we do expect that the trends in reliability for customers in the individual territories will improve over the years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, see, here's what I am trying to nail down, and I will just ask this question, and then I'll finish this subject.  You are asking the Board to tell you it's okay to spend almost $8-million on capital this year.

In your analysis of whether you should do it or not, don't you have an assessment of what you're going to get for it, how much you're going to get in maintenance or operating savings, how much you're going to get in reliability improvement?  Don't you have a disciplined way of assessing that and making a judgment call:  Is it worth spending this money to get this result?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, we do, we do take a look at those factors, because, like I said earlier, you know, we are not looking to build gold-plated systems here, and we're not looking to build Cadillac systems.

And I will just use the substation in Gananoque that was commissioned in 2007 as an example.  That was done to address a load-at-risk issue.  It replaced an aging facility that was the sole source of supply to the Town of Gananoque.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that anecdotally.  I am trying to get a sense of, you made that judgment to spend, what was it, $1.4-million or something?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  I think it was more than that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was more than that.


MR. SHOEGOBIND:  Like 1.7 or 1.8 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you made that judgment to spend that in 2007.


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I would have thought you would do an analysis to say:  Okay, we are going to spend this money.  Here is what we are going to get for it.  We are going to have this metric that we are going to test, SAIDI, let's say.  I don't know -- I don't know anything about this.  And we are going to test later to see whether we achieve the result that we wanted to achieve, or a 10 percent reduction in maintenance or something like that.

And I have looked in the evidence and I didn't see any analysis like that for that $1.7 million expenses.  Did you do that?


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The analysis was done, not quite in the terms that you have described them, which is a very empirical way of doing it.  What we did when we looked at the existing substation in Gananoque - I am talking about the old one now, before we built the new one - was the fact that, you know, first of all, what's the consequence of an outage to the transformer at that substation.  The consequence is that the entire town of Gananoque is out, so the entire customer base is out and they are out until we can find a replacement transformer, so you are talking about several days.

So even though we didn't sit down and, say, calculate, well, you know, what is the impact of SAIDI on that, you know, you can make a judgment call and tell that that's going to be a pretty adverse impact on your customer base.

So, again, we do do that type of analysis.  And then, you know, in the design of the new substation, one of the things we looked at was the fact that with the older facility, it was designed in such a manner that if you had to do preventative maintenance, you couldn't even take a single component out of service.  Basically, you were looking at taking out major portions of the substation, which, again, meant outages to a major portion of your customer base.

So again, that factored into the design of the new substation, where, you know, the protection systems are more sophisticated and it's designed in such a way that we can take an individual component out of service without affecting customers.

So again, the types of analysis you are talking about, those factors did play into the decisions to build a new substation and the manner in which it was built.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, I am going to move into a new area, so maybe this is an appropriate time?


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Let's break for 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:41 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, before you carry on to the next section, could I just interject at this point?  I have a question or two I would like to ask on the subject matter you were just on.

Just picking up in an area that Mr. Shepherd was asking you about before the break, and it's on the -- you know, directionally what we might expect to see with the increase in capital spending and how that -- the corresponding, you know, reduction in maintenance.

And this, in a more general sense, I would like to ask -- and this is something you mentioned, Mr. King -- that you don't operate your business on the -- with the information that's provided in the account -- of the unified system of accounts; is that right?  And that you have now an automatic mapping system that takes your accounts that you operate and maps over to the U.S.A.

Is that exercise -- would you -- or can it be characterized as an aggregation of information, in that, are you going from many more accounts to the fewer accounts of the US of A or the other way around?  Or is it just different?

MR. KING:  Well, it is different, but it's -- if you look at admin and general, we have many more accounts, and the OEB chart of accounts are smaller.  If you look at admin and general, and if you went to that detailed spreadsheet we have there, well, I would have a challenge trying to run my business using those categories.

On the operations side, not as significantly different.  Closer, but not as significantly different.  But on the admin side it would be different.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  So in the operations side, the accounts that you use, even there, you're not clearly separating preventive maintenance from corrective repair maintenance; is that correct?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, that would be correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And what is correct is that you do not do that.  They are still combined, even in the accounts that you use.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So we don't have a clean way -- I think, to go to Mr. Shepherd's point, is that where you may find, with the increase in capital, you may have a corresponding reduction in repair maintenance, you might not necessarily have a reduction in preventative maintenance; is that...?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Okay.  And the accounting just isn't there to be able to glean that information.

MR. KING:  I should make one comment to that.  It's funny, we had that exact conversation, I believe it was earlier this week, and we talked about that type of maintenance, and said, well, we don't -- within those maintenance accounts that we have, we don't actually do that, and we don't track it by that way.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. King, just to follow up on what you said, that it would be a challenge for you to run your business using those categories, so you are referring to the U.S. of A. account.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  I just wonder, can you explain on that?  Is it -- why is it a challenge?  It's not -- they are not detailed enough, or it's just the idiosyncrasies of Fortis companies?

MR. KING:  Well, no, I can't comment on other companies, but if I was to look -- and I'm at Schedule 422.  And you don't have to go there.  But looking at that, under admin and general expenses, I have an OEB account number 5610 called "management salaries and expenses".  Well, that's just my salaries.

But we more look at our functional areas.  So we would have it by safety, we would have it by HR, we would have it by finance, and within those areas you would have by type of costs.  And sometimes we try to summarize by, in broad terms, by type of costs, by all salaries, all audit fees, all, you know -- because there could be, as we talked about earlier, there are audit fees within health and safety and audit fees within finance, but -- so we don't run it -- we run it by cost centre, by functional area, Doug would look after regulatory, and he would be a cost centre, as opposed to me trying to manage Doug's budget within management salaries and expenses.  It's just too broad, too big.

MR. VLAHOS:  But, so when you do the mapping, there's -- you could present the information based on the uniform system of accounts for purposes of this Board's -- for the filings before this Board, right?

MR. KING:  Yes, yes, we have --

MR. VLAHOS:  So there's no issue -- there are no issues there as to how the information has been mapped for the purposes of reporting to this Board.

MR. KING:  No, no.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, before I continue, we did talk at the break about the two administrative matters that -- procedural matters that you asked us to talk about, the first being No. 34 and how it would be answered, and the second being about how we could proceed if the lease is delayed, the lease issue is delayed.

I don't know, do you want me to describe that?

MR. TAYLOR:  Go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So with respect to No. 34, we had a discussion.  We understand precisely what Mr. King is going to do.  We are happy about what he is going to do.  And we will talk offline about his results to see if there are any surprises in the result before we present it to the Board.

We don't expect it's going to be a big back-and-forth.  In fact, we have agreed neither of us have time to have a big back-and-forth.  So they have an approach to getting that information.  We think it's a sensible approach.

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect to the -- with respect to proceeding with all the issues except the lease, we have agreed, subject, obviously, to the Board's approval -- and I have confirmation from Mr. Buonaguro by e-mail of this as well -- that we would have argument on all issues except the lease, and if the Board wishes, we could actually go right to decision and rate order on everything except the lease if you wish, separate from the lease, but of course we wouldn't have -- if you wanted to go right to decision and rate order, we would ask the Board to defer Port Colborne until the lease is dealt with, because it's material, but the other ones can be done separately.

MR. VLAHOS:  Did you involve Mr. Faye in that discussion?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  Energy Probe is happy with that strategy.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

Just trying to think.  So there would be arguments on all issues except the Port Colborne lease.  And are you saying that we could proceed to a decision, a rate order, on the two systems or all three systems sans lease?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you could do either, but it's probably easier if you just deal with the two.  They're --

MR. VLAHOS:  I guess it all depends on the timing.  I'm just thinking that, is there a way that those things can be dealt by way of a variance account, for example?  It all depends when we think we are going to be done with the lease matter.

So on that, can you give us some indication as to what the time lines would look like on the lease?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps Mr. Taylor can speak to that.

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I think that on just the lease issue, the sense that I get that is that --

MR. VLAHOS:  Your mic, Mr. --

MR. TAYLOR:  It should be on.  Can you hear me now?

Well, the interrogatories have to be prepared, and the sense I get is that that is going to take three or four weeks, and we could come back after giving those interrogatories to the intervenors, the responses, we could come back shortly after that and finish off the oral hearing.  So maybe, what, another couple days or a week?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, we don't need more than a week with the information before we're ready to proceed with cross-examination.  The day involved in cross-examination of the issue will not be more than one day.  I can guarantee that.  Maybe only half a day.

--- Pause in proceedings.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  All right.  Gentlemen, the Panel will be quite happy with proceeding with the two systems and leave Port Colborne as on its own, at least in other matters.  So let's not bifurcate the lease from the other matters with respect to Port Colborne.

I suspect that by the time we go through the arguments on the other two systems, a lot of those things -- the arguments will be the same, the combinations -- the corporate functions, for example, the shared services.

So by the end of the day may not be a lot left, but in any event let's deal with Port Colborne as a separate unit.  It is, after all, a separate application, so we will proceed on that basis.  So what we need, I guess, before the other day, maybe during lunch, ask Staff to turn their minds to a schedule for arguments.  At least talk to the other parties and then we don't have to decide today, but at least we will be guided, so that we can set out the proper document --

MR. TAYLOR:  We have had a discussion about timing –-

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. TAYLOR:  -- Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry.


MR. TAYLOR:  So the numbers that were thrown around or suggested by Mr. Harmer were two weeks for our submission-in-chief, reply two weeks later, and then we would reply two weeks after that.  I spoke with my client, and because they are going to be working on a lot of undertakings from the beginning of this hearing, they thought that two-and-a-half weeks, the half week to spend on the  interrogatories -– or the undertakings would be required.

I can't speak for Mr. Shepherd, if two weeks is enough for him.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we are happy with two weeks and we are actually happy with the additional half week for the company, because it changes what other things we are doing at the time we get their argument, and as you know, the schedule is pretty busy in May.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's acceptable to this Panel.  Okay.  Mr. Harmer, we have to issue a PO or this will suffice, that –-

MR. HARMER:  A PO would probably be the easiest --

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Sebalj, I should ask you.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think it's best to -– I mean you are you are sitting at the dais, so you can make an order from the dais with respect to dates, but then we'd have to -– we'd have to have the exact dates.  I think it's just as easy for Staff to prepare a document, so that everyone's guided by that going forward.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So we will follow it up with the appropriate document, then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Now before I continue with my cross, Mr. Buonaguro is -– was not able to be here today, and he had some questions that he asked on Monday relating to weather normalization and he has asked me to follow up on one thing, which I am going to do, understanding that my knowledge of weather normalization is less than his and much less than Mr. Harper.

On Monday, Mr. Buonaguro asked you -- I think it was you, Mr. Bradbury, primarily -- about how you did your weather normalization methodology, and he was talking primarily about Port Colborne, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, but I believe he drew parallels to all three.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you used the same weather normalization methodology for all three, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the calculation of the uplift factor is the same in all three cases?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You used local, specific information to do that?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, I used the -- yes and no.  I used the IESO's provincial-wide demand forecasts, and I also used the area-specific information that arose from the Hydro One workings and the cost allocations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the area-specific information for Port Colborne and Fort Erie would be the same, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, it is not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it's different?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then of course for Gananoque, it's also different because of the different area?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so when you were talking about the implications of the model, in terms of what the results mean, and you had a whole back and forth about how reliable they were and why they were good and why they were bad.


MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And strengths and weaknesses, right?  Those answers would apply equally not just to Port Colborne, which you were specifically talking about, but to Fort Erie and Gananoque as well?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Okay.

Let me move on, then, to -- I just have a few more areas I want to ask some questions on, and let me start with finishing off what you were talking about before the break and then Mr. Quesnelle followed up on, and that is the interaction between capital spending and either operating costs or service quality metrics.  And with respect to -- it's right, isn't it, that most of your increase in revenue requirement is the revenue requirement impact of the increased capital spending, so it's two thirds of it?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if I understand correctly, you're not able to tell us -- that's about $2 million, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Don't know the number offhand, but it's return on rate base, I think was -- yes, one million in station expense and one million in return on rate base, so two million in total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but does that include PILs?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, it does not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's another PILs amount?

MR. BRADBURY:  600,000 in PILs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's about $2.6 million in –-

MR. KING:  All that PILs is not necessarily related to the increase in PILs, because the previous PILs, there was very limited PILs in the 2006 EDR for other reasons.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, because of your loss carry-forward.


MR. KING:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the whole 600 wouldn't really count?


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the increase in capital, some of it is –-

MR. KING:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the old capital?

MR. KING:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's leave that aside; 2 million is fine.  So you can't identify either dollar savings that the ratepayers are experiencing now or in the future arising out of that $2 million extra we are paying this year, can you?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, I can't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there -- can you estimate it in a dollar way, or is it just -- can all we say is qualitatively there is probably some.  We don't know what they are.


MR. BRADBURY:  The difficulty in doing that is, as you are aware, through various initiatives from the Board, you know, utilities across Ontario have an aging fleet of assets.  Transformers in particular are very lumpy investments.  They are expensive.  We have built two.  We are proposing a third one.  They have a real, real true end of life.  The –- transformers, you do dissolve gas analysis, you do your maintenance.  You know that there is an end of life coming.  You can't wait for it; you can't wait for the transformer to die and say:  Okay, I'm now going to replace it, because it just doesn't work.

You're looking at -- right now to buy a transformer, you are looking at a minimum of one year to go through purchase order specifications and buy it.

So those lumpy investments in themselves, I don't think you can -– like someone asked me one time before and I said it's almost like striking a match.  It worked, but there there's no point in keeping it.  It's not going to work the next time.  The transformer and substations is very much like that, so it's working pretty good, you know, but you are doing your maintenance.  You are being very prudent.  You are load checking oil.  You know if you have your -- imminent insulation failure.  You know if you have arcing in the transformer.  They're all -- the DNA of the transformer tells you that.

So whereas you may not have seen a lot of outages or you may not have had a lot of -- but you know you are going to have to spend the money.  You've got to bite the bullet.  You've got to do it.  And it's that portion of capital that I don't think you can bring it over to the question you are answering, and say:  I spent it; where's my savings?  What I did is I spent it.  Now I have an asset that's going to last me another 30 to 50 years.  I got 30 to 50 out of the last one.  Now I am going to get another 30 to 20, and hopefully the ship stays on course.

So whereas you can replace poles, you can put up new conductor, replace like aging copper, and you say:  Okay, my conductor is not going to fall down as easy.  I won't have to send guys out.  I can replace inline cutouts with inline automatic reclosers.  I am going to reduce some maintenance costs.

Those big lumpy costs of transformers, you will not -- in my experience, you cannot rate those to over the next five years, I am going to save X amount of dollars.  Because you just don't go out and fix a transformer and put the power back on.  Either it's working or it's not working.  I don't know if I made --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand what you are saying.  I guess, you know, if I go out and buy a new car –-

MR. BRADBURY:  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- because my old one is costing me a fortune in repairs - and believe me, it is - if I go out and buy a new car, I expect my repair bill to go down.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, but if I got a transformer -– and we'll go to Wilhelm station.  Canadian Niagara Power takes oil samples either one year or every 6 months and we send them away to an oil analysis and we'll have them checked.  If we put a brand new transformer there next week, I'm going to do the same thing.  I am going to check the oil every 6 months to a year.

Those type of things don't change.  You have an asset that functions, but you know it's approaching end of life.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.


MR. BADBURY:  You know it will fail, and just because you put a new one in doesn't mean I stop doing that and wait 20 years before I start checking oil.  That's not the way to do it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's the first component of it.  And I understand what you are saying, and it's not really -– it's not black and white, is it?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  Then the other part is -- is improvement in performance.  And I looked at your corporate targets for the next five years.  This is part of the same business plan that you did, right?  It's approved in October.  And it's attached as attachment A to Interrogatory 5, the same one we were looking at before.


And I guess your two key -- excuse me.  Your two key metrics for reliability are, in fact, expected to be worse during your plan period than your numbers for 2008.  Isn't that right?  SAIDI and SAIFI?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sorry, I didn't quite understand your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 2008 forecast, 2.2 SAIDI, right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are expecting that to be worse, 2.5 for the planning period, five years.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Okay.  First of all, let me clarify.  The metrics that you see in this table are Fortis Ontario metrics, so it's an aggregated Fortis Ontario target, which would be Fort Erie, Port Colborne, Gananoque, and Cornwall Electric.  And...

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have targets for your distribution -- your CNP distribution business?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  We have not gotten down to that level yet.  That is something we are looking at doing, taking it down to.  I think we did talk about this on Monday or Tuesday.  We are looking at getting more specific for the individual territories for reliability targets, but right now these are the corporate targets.

We come up with those targets by looking at several years of past performance, and then we kind of apply a stretch factor to it, saying, you know, Well, you know, where do we want to be, in terms of reliability?


So those numbers that you see here were based on plans that we put together in '07.  And we look at those numbers every year and assess, what should the targets be going forward.  So that assessment will be done again now that we have got our 2008 results.  We will be looking at those numbers again and saying, Where do we want to be in the future?  And it's possible that the targets might be revised.

So I think what you are seeing here, in terms of the forecast for '08, the forecast for '08 was -- at the time this document was prepared -- and I don't remember exactly what month it was, but we looked at where we were, in terms of our reliability performance for that year, and we said, Where do we think we are going to end up on December 31st?


But at that point in time we couldn't really say, you know, that we could guarantee that for every single year going forward that is where we will be, because reliability is something, you know -- the important thing is the trend, because every year it is going to go up or down, depending on your weather events and other things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me turn then to your supplementary evidence filed on Monday, K1.5.  And this is mostly taken up with a follow-up to, I guess, to one of our interrogatories dealing with the benchmarking of OM&A costs, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you have done -- and you actually responded to School's IR No. 4 about this, but this is a more fulsome discussion of the same issue, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, you guys raised a very good point, and that was...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, thank you.

And so I just want to ask a couple of questions about that.  What you have done is you have said, Okay.  Well, in order to do this comparison fairly, we have to adjust our OM&A costs first; right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you did is you took out from the 2007 numbers $483,000 for the early retirement program, right?  Which is 307,000 of what you called the stipend and $176,000 of the pension costs, right?  Roughly.  And you backed out the Port Colborne lease, which I will come to in a second, and you backed out the rental of the Fort Erie service centre, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you did that because you feel that taking those out of OM&A -- and presumably they have to go somewhere, right?  You are treating them as not OM&A, right?  That makes your OM&A costs then comparable to these other utilities:  Haldemand, Innisfil, Norfolk, Orillia, Penn West.

MR. BRADBURY:  That's utilities in -- stemming from your IR.  That's the core we felt we would fall in in response to your IR No. 4, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I think that's true.

So you didn't look at whether any of those needed to be adjusted, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, we didn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know whether you're in fact comparable.

MR. BRADBURY:  Well, the idea of the lease costs -- or the rental costs -- and we have talked about it a fair bit in working groups of the cohorts and whatnot, and it struck us that the rental -- or the ownership of the building for the majority of the utilities that we are familiar with anyway have that costs in their -- on their capital side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As rate base.

MR. BRADBURY:  As rate base.  So --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just stop you there, because that's not my experience.  You know, we have been looking at a lot of these applications.  I mean, PowerStream, for example, until just recently was renting from their municipality.  And there's been a number that lease or rent from their municipality, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That may very well be, but it was our experience the utilities that are in our general geographic area that we're familiar with, they own the buildings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Sorry, go on.

MR. BRADBURY:  That's it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then with respect to the early-retirement program, you are saying it was just -- that was an unusual year, and so --

MR. BRADBURY:  Unusual event.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- if you are going to do a comparison, normalize the year.

MR. BRADBURY:  Well, I think what we said in the write-up, that if we are going to look at -- compare Canadian Niagara Power's operating/administration costs to those of others, then we should try to make some attempt to compare apples to apples.

An early-retirement window is not the norm.  It's not a core -- it's not really our core operating costs.  It's not a cost that reflects what it costs to maintain poles and wires and transformers.

So realistically, if you want to look at what it costs us to operate our utility in the manner which we do, then really you should take that cost out of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  You don't know whether any of these other utilities had similar costs in 2007.

MR. BRADBURY:  Again, the utilities that we are familiar with didn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Haldemand, for example?

MR. BRADBURY:  I can't speak to it specifically.  I am not aware of anything that -- we are members of NEPA with Haldemand.  I am sure I would have been aware if there was general discussion of the matter.  I am not aware of any.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then now let's deal with the Port Colborne lease costs.  And first of all, I thought the lease cost was fifteen-twenty-eight-two every year, but you've got, on page 9 of your material, a lower cost for 2008 and 2009, and I was just struck by that.  It wasn't what I expected, because in School Energy Coalition No. 2, for 2008 and 2009 you have fifteen-twenty-eight-two, and here you have fourteen-sixty-two-eight.  I just don't...

MR. KING:  I am not quite sure of the difference.  It's likely related to some commodity tax associated with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Commodity tax?

MR. KING:  PST, GST.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but for 2007 you have fifteen-twenty-eight-two.  It's the same.

MR. KING:  Yes, I'm not quite sure, but we are going to do your SEC 34 in any event.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I understand.  But so here's -- my question is, am I right that what you are asking for in this application is fifteen-twenty-eight-two to recover from the ratepayers?

MR. KING:  I see the number 1462.  I am assuming that's the number I am going to ask for.  I would have to confirm that's the number we are asking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you just confirm that -- what the number is that you are requesting recovery for?

MR. KING:  Yes, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Is there agreement to provide that as an undertaking?

MR. KING:  Sure.

MS. SEBALJ:  It should be marked JT3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.3:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER FOR WHICH RECOVERY IS BEING REQUESTED

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so when you back out the Port Colborne lease costs -- and I am not going to get into the details of the whole song and dance about that.  I just want to understand the OM&A comparison and how that adjustment works.  The -- when you back that out, you are backing that out because it isn't OM&A or because it is something else, or because it could with treated as something else?  Help me out.

MR. BRADBURY:  I think we backed it out because of the attention that has been raised to it in this process, and we wanted to show the impact on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you actually are spending it, right?  You are paying the money?

MR. KING:  Yeah, yeah.  We are spending it.  It's a lease of a rate base.  It's not an OM&A cost as such.  It's not a true OM&A cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at least conceptually, you can think of it as a capital like cost.  I am not going to ask you to say that.

MR. BRADBURY:  I think you coined the term in your interrogatory, and then I stole it in this.  You coined the term "pure".


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. BRADBURY:  And I think I extrapolated from your definition or your -- the way you coined the term "pure".


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. BRADBURY:  Of a pure operating cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we shouldn't take from your adjustment here in your supplementary evidence that you are suggesting that it's not OM&A.  You are just saying, We understand that it has some unusual attributes and nobody else has this, so if we are going to compare our operating costs to somebody else, this is not like those costs.  Is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's a fair...

MR. KING:  Generally, I would agree with what you are saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And let me just ask one other question about this evidence, and that is, on page 4 you talk about the impact of the loss carry-forwards and you had loss carry-forwards in 2006; right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in the 2006 Board-approved, you didn't have a PILs amount?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But, of course, don't have any loss carry-forwards anymore, so now you do have a PILs amount.  So my question about that is:  You leased the assets; you didn't buy Port Colborne, you leased that; right?  So there were in fact loss carry-forwards in Port Colborne at the time you acquired; right?

MR. KING:  I have no idea.  That's -- in Port Colborne, I have no -– I leased their assets.  Whether or not they have loss carry-forwards, it's part of the Port Colborne Hydro's corporate tax returns.  It's nothing to do with CNPI's corporate tax returns.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Maybe I –-

MR. KING:  We didn't buy loss carry-forwards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe I will wait until I get the answers to your interrogatories and I will pursue that at that time.  Okay?  That's probably easier.  I thought you might know off the top of your head, but we will take a look.

All right, let me turn to regulatory costs.  And you've proposed an increase in your regulatory costs to almost half-a-million dollars, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the primary reason for that is the motions?

MR. KING:  One of the reasons is the motions.  We had underestimated the cost of the overall process.  One of the reasons is the motions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and so --

MR. KING:  I should back up as well.  No disrespect, we forgot about the intervenors as well.  We hadn't --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, and I saw that in the transcript the other day and I thought, you know, I mean --

MR. KING:  We're naive –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- at times we're forgettable, but --

MR. KING:  We're naïve.  I apologize for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the -- so how much is the increase from your original estimate?  Your original estimate was --

MR. KING:  175,000, approximately, to 475,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So a $300,000 increase, of which about 150 is intervenors and 150 is the motions, roughly?

MR. KING:  Yeah, 125 -- 150 intervenors and 125 is the underestimation in legal costs.  Not -- I wouldn't characterize it as the motions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, because the motions cost something but also you just underestimated generally?

MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If there had been no motions, you'd still be overbudget?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know -– do have a breakdown of that or do you have no idea?

MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and now included in this as a -– as a regulatory cost -- I am trying to find where it is -- is you retained a consultant for shared services methodology, right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much was that, by the way?  We have that around somewhere.  I just wondered if you know offhand.

MR. KING:  I am not sure of the exact amount for that particular piece.  Do you want me to get the exact number for that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I mean it -- was it a big number?

MR. KING:  No, our external consultation costs forecasted was $30,000 in total, and that's -- other services are in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so there is nothing for that shared services work that isn't in that external calculation consultation number?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Well, then it's small.  The -- now presumably Fortis Ontario -- well, the Fortis group of companies has to spend money on their shared services arrangements to ensure that they are set up properly and to ensure that they are being fairly allocated between the utilities -– the affiliates anyway, right?  You have to do that anyway, regardless of the regulated --

MR. KING:  I don't understand your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have a bunch of costs that you have to share.  You have to figure out the right way to share.  Regardless of whether you're regulated, you still have to figure out the right way to share, right?

MR. KING:  Yeah.  We do that internally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't get consultants to help you with that.  It's only for regulatory purposes that you would get a consultant to help you?

MR. KING:  Well, you know -– and excuse the term, to the smell test, we would bring in a third-party consultant to make sure our process was reasonable and help facilitate approval through regulatory.  Otherwise, we would have no requirement to bring a third party in.  We have the capacity to do that ourselves.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because if it were just for your internal purposes, you would be concerned with making sure that the individual business units are bearing the right costs, so that you know from a management point of view of you are doing in each one, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a different purpose than can you fairly charge this to a ratepayer?

MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I get it.


MR. KING:  To understand the regulatory process, so that's why we have one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I want to talk about shared services for a couple of minutes, but let me just ask you one quick question on another matter, and that is with respect to capitalization of OM&A.  And that's -- I am looking at VECC Interrogatory No. 33.


MR. KING:  Can you refer to what -– what trans --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  Yeah, this is Fort Erie Supplemental No. 33.

MR. KING:  Fort Erie Supplemental?  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have just a couple of questions on this.  First, do these numbers include the storm damage component, the storm costs in 2006?  Because that would affect how much you capitalized, right?

MR. KING:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this doesn't include storm damage?  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. King, you have to give a response.

MR. KING:  Oh, I said no.  Sorry, I apologize.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  It's not for us; we can see you.  It's for the -– for the record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am right, am I not, that this is sort of zero-sum game?  If you capitalize less OM&A, that means you have higher OM&A and lower capital costs, right?  Or vice-versa?

MR. KING:  Zero-sum game?  I capitalize more OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, the money has to go somewhere.  It –-

MR. KING:  I'm spending the money; correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's right, so the only question is whether you are spending the money and treating it as a cost this year or as a cost in the future.


MR. KING:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so from 2006 -- now, this is 2006 actual, right, that you have here, 13 percent?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So from 2006 to 2009 it's gone from 13 percent down to 9 percent.  What's the dollar impact of that?

MR. KING:  I can't comment on the exact dollar impact of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Whatever that dollar impact is would be an increase in OM&A and a decrease in capital costs, right?

MR. KING:  Decrease in OM&A...  By capitalizing less I'm increasing my OM&A and decreasing my capital.  Is that what you stated?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That's right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So for example, if your OM&A capitalized in 2009 were the same as 2006, 13 percent, that would mean that you'd have a 4 percent lower OM&A number to recover from the ratepayers this year; true?

MR. KING:  Can you say that again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you were capitalizing at the same rate, 13 percent, in 2009 --

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- instead of 9 percent, then that would mean that your OM&A would be 4 percent lower and that component of your revenue requirement would also be 4 percent.

MR. KING:  Can I just refer back to a conversation you and I had at the technical conference with respect to the same matter?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know.

MR. KING:  And in totality, I don't know if there is a big difference, the amount that got capitalized, because of the change in application of that, whereas some of the operations and planning group I am talking about, the engineering techs and that, who were charging their time to a capitalized overhead account, now are charging more directly to jobs.

So more of a change in application than a change in amount that got capitalized, OM&A costs, as you call it, that got capitalized, capitalized overhead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have changed the methodology.

MR. KING:  Application, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the difference?

MR. KING:  Well, we are still capitalizing overhead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And the amounts that got capitalized, I can't say for certain, but are likely approximately the same, and just that one group changed its practice of, as opposed to charged to one account, charged to capital directly, the job directly, the job order.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that change the percentage of OM&A that's capitalized?  How you calculate the number and what the number is are different, right?

MR. KING:  Yes.  Yes.  But, sorry, I don't think you are following me here.  Let's -- we have an engineering tech who in the past charged, I will say 50 percent of his time to one individual capitalized overhead account.  And that would be what we call general expense capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KING:  As opposed to, today that one engineering tech charges his time directly to jobs, as opposed to that one GEC account.  So the total amount that goes over to capital in essence hasn't changed, but the application of how he did it changed, and thus this percentage is derived on the total of that GEC over capital or over OM&A costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that doesn't sound the same as what you told me in the technical conference.  What you said in the --

MR. KING:  Well, maybe I didn't articulate it properly, but that's the way...

MR. SHEPHERD:  You gave the --

MR. KING:  Sorry, can I just cut you off there?  I remember you were saying, Well, what you just told me, I can't -- I did not understand any of it, so obviously I didn't explain it properly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that was for another question that I said that.

MR. KING:  No, I think it was for that question, because I didn't -- because I explained it along GEC direct and GEC indirect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes, I did, I said "I have no idea what you just said".


MR. KING:  I recall you saying that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You gave an explanation similar to what you just said, and I said -- and I am reading from the technical conference, page 39:

"As a result, the net amount being allocated to capital is going down."

And your answer was "yes".  And then I went on to say:

"This is a change in methodology."

And you said:

"Yes, a slight change in methodology."

MR. KING:  Yes, and I should correct myself.  And maybe we were both confused with going back and forth.  As I knew you would come back to this point -- and that is why I tried to be -- I asked you to repeat yourself a couple of times.

So I can't say for certain if the amount being capitalized has gone down or gone up.  I will just say the practice of it is, where previously the engineering techs would have charged directly into the GEC account, and to calculate this we would have taken a percentage of that GEC account over total OM&A costs, whereas now the engineering techs are charging their time directly to job orders, so that GEC account over total OM&A costs would, of course, be lower, because the denominator is smaller.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I look at Interrogatory 33, then, it -- tell me whether you are saying -- this is what you are saying, that these numbers do not include work that's directly charged to capital.  They only include amounts that go into OM&A and then are reallocated to capital; is that right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've changed your methodology so that some of the things that were indirectly allocated to capital in 2006 are now directly allocated, so that's why the number is different; is that right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And does that make up the entire difference?

MR. KING:  Like I said, I can't -- I don't know the exact dollar amount numbers and that, so I can't confirm that makes up the entire difference.  Our methodology of capitalizing has not changed -- capitalizing overhead has not changed, besides that one piece, which I call a change in practice or application thereof.  But our methodology has not changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have about another 15 or 20 minutes.  Do you want me to continue and have -- and then I'm done.  Would you like me to continue, or would you like --

MR. VLAHOS:  That would make sense, Mr. Shepherd.  But Mr. Shepherd, just before you leave this area, Mr. King, you may want to look at the transcript later on, but you talked about the denominator being smaller.  Did you mean the numerator being smaller?

MR. KING:  Yes, sorry, I didn't do very well in math.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Okay.  It's an important point, and I --

MR. KING:  Yes.  I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to clarify:  You're the chief financial officer?


[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I couldn't resist.

All right.  Let me -- then I have just one -- one other area left, and that's shared services.  And you've talked about this at some length.  And there is a lot of evidence on the record, and so I am not going to go through it all in detail.  I just have a couple of things that I want to ask about.

First, if I can find it, is, we had a lengthy discussion at the technical conference, Mr. Hawkes and myself, about the agreements, the shared services agreements, right?  Do you recall that?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And my understanding of this -- and tell me whether I am right -- is you had a particular way of allocating between affiliates prior to 2003, I guess; is that right?  Or 2005?  When was the change?

MR. HAWKES:  I am not certain what change you are talking about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a change as a result of discussions with Board Staff.  Was that 2005?

MR. HAWKES:  Oh, the shared services agreement.  The wording, I guess, of the revisions of shared services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had an agreement between the affiliates in July 2003.  That's the old agreements.

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you had a new one in 2007.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what you did to change -- you changed the wording of how you calculate the fees, right?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And under the old agreement -- and this is -- and we talked about this -- the -- I am reading from the July agreement between -- this is the Cornwall agreement, but they're all the same in this respect.  And this is attached to School's IR No. 4, Supplemental No. 4.

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in section 201, it says:
"The corporation shall pay to the service provider -–"

Which in the case is Cornwall:
"-- for the services provided under the agreement a fee reflecting costs plus a reasonable rate of return as determined by the parties, provided that such fee for services at the above-noted rate shall approximate the fair market value of the service, resource or product."

Right?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there was a problem with that wording, because it wasn't compliant with ARC; correct?

MR. HAWKES:  I don't believe that was the -- I am not sure if it wasn't compliant with ARC because we had exemptions from ARC, but there was a change in the wording because of the practice -– the OEB, for wording these types of fees for services, so I need to compare this wording with the other wording.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HAWKES:  Just let me find that.  In actual fact, I think there was a change in the wording but there was no change in the practice, because at the end of the day, we charge fully loaded cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --

MR. HAWKES:  It was more of a -– it was like a wording change that didn't affect our practice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is where I am going with this, so -- and that's why we don't need to get down into the bull-rushes here.

The -- whatever the agreement says, you followed the same practice throughout this period?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  From 2003 to today, which is you charge fully loaded cost?

MR. HAWKES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fully loaded cost does not include a return?

MR. HAWKES:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So although this agreement says return, it never did.

MR. HAWKES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nor do you have any fair market value analysis for these charges because it's fully loaded costs, period, right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BRADBURY:  In the case of the Cornwall Electric line crews working in Gananoque, we did work with a well-known contractor down there who does work for many LDCs, and we did get prices from him to provide linemen and trucks or equipment.  And that rate was comparable, and I think we discussed that in the technical conference as well.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.  In that case, the fully loaded cost was less than the fair market value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you do from time to time test your numbers -–

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to see how they relate to the market, but this provision in the old agreement saying that it would be fair market value has never been followed?

MR. HAWKES:  I wouldn't say it hasn't been followed.  I think it's correct to say that the fee reflecting costs plus reasonable rate of return was a practice that was not followed because we charged at the fully loaded cost, but I think that we were in compliance with -– that the fully loaded cost would approximate fair market value, is what I was trying to say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Taylor, the Board has no questions.  Any redirect?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I don't, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Then that concludes the evidentiary portion, this portion anyway, so we are going to have another with respect to the lease for Port Colborne.

So we will follow up with the Procedural Order to set the dates for the arguments for Fort Erie and Gananoque, and thank you all for up to this point.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:36 p.m.
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